
 

Agenda - Children, Young People and Education 

Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 1 - Senedd 

Meeting date: 18 October 2018 

Meeting time: 09.15

For further information contact: 

Llinos Madeley 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddCYPE@assembly.wales
------ 

Private Pre-meeting  

(09.15 - 09.30) 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

(09.30)   

 

2 Childcare Funding (Wales) Bill: Stage 2 Proceedings 

(09.30 - 13.00)   

Huw Irranca-Davies AM, Minister for Children, Older People and Social Care  

Owain Lloyd, Deputy Director – Childcare, Play and Early Years Division 

Tracy Hull, Legal Services  

 

In accordance with Standing Order 26.21, the order of consideration for 

Stage 2 proceedings will be: Sections 1 to 13; Long title. 

 

Documents relevant to Stage 2 proceedings are available on the Bill page.  

 

There will be break at an appropriate time through the proceedings  

 

 

 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------

http://senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=21394


3 Paper to note 

(13.00)   

 

3.1 Inquiry into Targeted Funding to Improve Education Outcomes - Welsh 

Government response to the Committee's report 

 (Pages 1 - 20)  

Attached Documents:  

CYPE(5)-28-18 - Paper to note 1 

 

3.2 Letter from the Chair of the Petitions Committee - Petition P-05-821 

Reintroduce educational support funding for MEAS and the TES to local 

authorities 

 (Page 21)  

Attached Documents:  

CYPE(5)-28-18 - Paper to note 2 

 

3.3 Letter from Owen Smith MP - Related to inconsistencies by WJEC in marking 

 (Pages 22 - 34)  

Attached Documents:  

CYPE(5)-28-18 - Paper to note 3 

 

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42(ix) to resolve to exclude the 

public from the whole of the meeting on 24 October 

(13.00)   

 



Kirsty Williams AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 
Cabinet Secretary for Education 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 
CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 

0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Kirsty.Williams@llyw.cymru 
  Correspondence.Kirsty.Williams@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni 

fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and 

corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref MA-P/KW/3256/18 

Lynne Neagle AM 

Chair of the Children, Young People and Education Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 
Cardiff Bay 

Cardiff 
CF99 1NA 

21st September 2018 

Dear Lynne, 

Thank you for your letter of 19 June regarding the Committee’s On the Money? 
report following its inquiry into the Welsh Government’s approach of targeting funding 
on particular cohorts of pupils, primarily disadvantaged pupils. 

I welcome the report and I am pleased the Committee recognises the positive impact 
policies in this area have had.  This inquiry has raised the profile across the sector of 
the needs of disadvantaged learners and benefits the grant can provide which is a 
positive outcome.  The strength of the evidence provided to the Committee highlights 
both the importance of ensuring our provision for disadvantaged learners meets each 
individual learners needs and the continued commitment from all involved.   

I will continue to strive to ensure as many barriers as possible are removed so our 
most disadvantaged learners have every opportunity to reach their full potential whilst 
also maximising the impact of the funding available. 

Whilst the inquiry, by its very nature, has a retrospective focus, the Committee will be 
aware of the wider reform across our education system that is taking place, including 
curriculum and accountability arrangements.  I am confident these changes are 
necessary and will have a positive impact on our disadvantaged learners over the 
long term; however I fully agree with the Committee that we must also be mindful of 
the impact of these reforms in the short term on our disadvantaged and vulnerable 
learners.   

The attached table sets out the Welsh Government’s response to each 
recommendation.  I am pleased to have been able to accept the vast majority of the 
Committee’s recommendations.  I have accepted in principle a few of the 
recommendations and have set out my reasoning for these.  I am unable to accept a 
small number of recommendations and again I have explained my rationale.    

CYPE(5)-28-18 - Paper to note 1 

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 3.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Kirsty.Williams@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Kirsty.Williams@gov.wales


I have committed to provide the Committee with further updates in relation to a 
number of recommendations; I will do this as information becomes available or work 
develops.   
 
Please pass on my thanks to the Committee and everyone else involved in 
supporting your inquiry. 
 
Yours sincerely  

 
Kirsty Williams AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 
Cabinet Secretary for Education 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 2



1 
 

Recommendations 

R1: The Welsh Government should regularly assess the scale of investment required for the Pupil Development Grant 
(PDG) in terms of value for money and opportunity cost. In particular, the Welsh Government should closely monitor on 
an ongoing basis the PDG’s impact on the pupils it targets. 

Accept 

I am pleased the Committee recognises the positive impact the Pupil Development Grant (PDG) has had and the contribution it has 
made to reduce the attainment gap.   

Firstly, I would like to provide assurance that the Welsh Government regularly assesses all investments across its portfolio, 
including the PDG and we will continue to do so. It is probably fair to say that the PDG is one of the most thoroughly evaluated 
education policies. 

Following the inception of the PDG in 2012 a three year evaluation (2013/14-2015/16) was undertaken to establish the grant’s 
effectiveness.  More recently evaluations of the Looked After Children (LAC) and Early Years (EY) elements have also been 
commissioned.  The aim of the PDG-LAC study was to evaluate the implementation and management of the grant since the 
changes to its allocation and management in April 2015. An early process evaluation took place during the second year of the 
EYPDG to evaluate how the grant was being implemented by practitioners across the different settings, whether it was being 
implemented as intended and to identify any emerging best practice. The EYPDG evaluation was published on 20 September and 
the PDG-LAC evaluation will be published later in the autumn.  The aim of all three evaluations was to provide assurance that initial 
implementation proceeded as planned. Before commissioning any further research I want to reflect on this evidence alongside 
other intelligence we have gathered, including from the middle tier and from schools themselves.  

I agree completely that we must ensure we maximise the impact of the funding and continue to effectively support our 
disadvantaged learners.  Any future evaluation will take the lessons we have learnt so far into account.  For example, the majority 
of schools now have tracking systems in place and we also have further data sets spanning a number of years which will provide 
greater rigour. All of which will enable more robust analysis in the future.  Consideration will be given as to how we can work with 
schools to fully utilise the data being collated and strengthen monitoring for future evaluation, work to develop new PDG guidance 
will consider what more can be done nationally to support this local level monitoring and evaluation.    

Together with the longer term independent evaluations the Welsh Government has mechanisms in place for regular in-year 
monitoring.   This includes: 

 our Raising Attainment Advocate; 

 termly Challenge and Review meetings whereby consortia report to the Government and are held to account for the 

P
ack P

age 3



2 
 

management of PDG and delivery of results; and 

 half termly meetings between my officials and the consortia PDG strategic advisers, which focus on implementation, impact 
monitoring and peer mentoring.   

In his capacity as Raising Attainment Advocate, Sir Alasdair Macdonald routinely visits schools across Wales.  Sir Alasdair’s wealth 
of knowledge and experience allows for continuous evaluation and identification of best practice.  This provides real-time 
assessment at an operational level in contrast to time lag created with formal evaluation and data collection.  A necessary balance 
to ensure continuous improvement of our systems. 

The appointment of PDG strategic advisers has enhanced the role of the consortia.  The advisers are supported and guided by Sir 
Alasdair.  Their focus on the needs of disadvantaged learners will strengthen the support provided to schools.  Our aim is to ensure 
the advisers have access to the necessary tools, including best practice, research, and data to raise the attainment of our most 
vulnerable learners.  Importantly, they will also be required to strengthen collaboration across Wales to ensure that good practice is 
shared and built upon.  
 

R2: The Welsh Government should ensure there is coherence in its approach to targeting funding to improve educational 
outcomes, addressing any inconsistencies between the principle behind the PDG and the ending of other targeted 
education grants. In doing so, the Welsh Government should demonstrate the logic behind any differences in its 
approach. 

Accept 

As the Committee’s report outlines, the Welsh Government took a central approach to the Draft Budget in 2018-19 to prioritise 
funding to Local Government for frontline schools and social care. As the Draft Budget progressed, steps were taken to confirm 
understanding and provide additional information as part of the scrutiny process, responding to the needs of the Committee and of 
stakeholders. 

We have a clear and long-standing commitment to schools funding. Despite the UK Government’s continued austerity programme 
and continuing reductions to the budget for Wales, we have taken action to safeguard local authorities’ support for front line school 
services. 

In past years we have taken action to reduce the number of individual education grants and have rationalised our grant funding to 
just two – the Pupil Development Grant, and the combined Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant, which contains all other 
regional consortia grant funding including the EIG. This year, we have extended this rationalisation approach to the grants provided 
to local authorities and will build on this over the coming years.  We have also taken action to reduce the administrative and 

P
ack P

age 4



3 
 

management costs associated with our grants, for example moving grant funding to more outcome focused arrangements, 
reducing some of the reporting requirements and using existing system information such as consortia business plans and the 
regional governance structures to reduce additional reporting. As an example, the EIG maximum administration / management 
clause has reduced to just 0.75% of the total grant over recent years. 

This demonstrates a balanced and considered approach, whereby we are cognisant of the need to minimise bureaucracy and 
administrate burdens, whilst also retaining some specific grants to oversee directly the delivery of outcomes in priority areas, 
including the PDG.   

We work closely with local government and consortia to ensure our national priorities for schools are integrated into regional and 
local priorities for delivery.  

R3: The Welsh Government should take all steps to emphasise that the PDG is to be used to support all eligible learners, 

including those who are more able and talented. This should include updating its PDG guidance, issued in 2015, 

accordingly.  

Accept 

I am pleased the report recognises that the Welsh Government has been clear in its expectations that the PDG should be used to 
support all eligible learners to progress.  I have taken every opportunity to reiterate this includes more able learners too.  I have 
asked the consortia PDG strategic advisers to ensure this is a priority. 

We have made a number of changes to the PDG since I have been in post, not least to its name and my officials are working with 
the advisers to update and revise the current PDG guidance to ensure it remains relevant and accessible.   This guidance will also 
reflect the need to ensure all learners needs are being met.   

Going forward, the reformed evaluation and improvement arrangements will also reflect this approach and drive behaviours in our 
schools as we move to measuring the progress of individual learners.  The interim measures remove the narrow focus on the 
borderline C/D grade allowing schools to refocus support for more able learners. 

R4: The Welsh Government should ensure Key Stage 4 performance measures and school accountability arrangements 

incentivise schools to support eFSM pupils in achieving as high grades as possible.  

Accept  

P
ack P

age 5



4 
 

As the Committee notes within its report, the Welsh Government has already taken steps towards this objective through the 
commitment to implement the ‘interim measures’ at Key Stage 4 from 2019. The approach of using measures that reflect 
attainment at all grades will incentivise schools to support all learners to achieve their best outcomes. Focussing on the progress of 
individual learners rather than on satisfying measures which drive unsatisfactory behaviour.  A specific requirement is being 
introduced for schools to analyse differences in attainment between learners eligible for free school meals and those that are not; a 
really important development.  

In the longer term, more whole scale changes are in development as part of the new evaluation and improvement arrangements 
that will be introduced alongside the new curriculum. A major driver in the design of these new arrangements is the desired steer 
away from a high stakes accountability system and the separation of accountability and school evaluation for improvement.  This 
will help schools to identify, and allow schools to focus on, where support is genuinely needed without being led by the pressures 
of quantitative performance measures viewed out of context.  

Prior to these future arrangements, and alongside the introduction of the ‘interim measures’, the Welsh Government will begin  to 
tackle the pressure points within the system and address the culture around the use of, and understanding the purpose of, 
performance measures and how to use the data effectively. This, in the interim, should help ease the pressure on schools which 
has incentivised them to focus efforts on a narrow range of pupils rather than allocating support proportionately to address the 
needs of all pupils. 

R5: If the Welsh Government wants schools to use the PDG on pupils who have been eFSM at any point in the past two 
years, it should fund schools’ PDG allocations on this basis, i.e. per pupil who has been eFSM at any point in the past two 
years, rather than expecting schools to support additional pupils from a grant allocation based on a one year snapshot of 
eFSM eligibility. 

Reject 

We have undertaken extensive modelling within the parameters of the existing overall quantum of funding, mostly recently in 
advance of confirming allocations for the current and next financial years. This resulted in what the Government considers to be the 
optimum, affordable allocation being implemented.  However, we recognise there is a wider cohort of learners on the periphery that 
would also benefit from additional support.  That is why, from April 2018 we have provided greater flexibility to schools by 
expanding the definition for use of the PDG to allow schools the flexibility to support learners who have been e-FSM in the previous 
two years. 

R6. The Welsh Government should consider adopting a longer-term timeframe for determining eligibility for the eFSM 

P
ack P

age 6



5 
 

PDG so that pupils who have been eFSM in the recent past can also be supported. The Welsh Government should 
investigate differing thresholds of eligibility, for example two, three, four or five years, against different amounts per child 
to arrive at an optimum, affordable model, taking into account the trade-offs involved. 

Reject 

As stated in our response to Recommendation 5, extensive modelling was undertaken to ensure we were providing the best 
solution for Wales as a whole.  The Welsh Government analysed the impact of various models, including: 

 extending eligibility criteria;  

 increasing allocations;  

 allocating funding using alternative data sets;  

 fixing allocations; and  

 minimum funding thresholds. 

As a result, from April 2018 we were able to: 

 provide a more flexible definition for use of the PDG, strengthening leadership and decision making in schools;  

 increase the Early Years PDG by £100 per eligible learner to £700; 
 implement a more transparent formula for EYPDG in primary schools; 

 provide schools with greater security and sustainability for forward planning by fixing allocations until March 2020; and  

 ensure all schools receive a minimum level of support, by allocating at least the rate of one pupil to every single school in 
Wales. 

This work was carried out in partnership with consortia to ensure we were able to minimise any negative impact on schools.   

R 7. If the Welsh Government decides to continue with a one-year headcount for determining PDG allocations, it should 
allocate the 2018-19 and 2019-2020 PDG to schools according to the higher of their individual eFSM count from PLASC 
2016 or the latest available. 

Reject 

This is not feasible because allocations for 2018-19 and 2019-20 have already been confirmed.  Allocations were fixed for two 
years for schools to benefit from the stability longer term planning provides.  

 

P
ack P

age 7



6 
 

R8: The Welsh Government should ensure that the recently appointed PDG lead officers within the regional consortia are 
proactive in monitoring, and challenging where necessary, schools’ use of the PDG, in order to ensure maximum impact 
and value for money. 

Accept 

The PDG strategic advisers are critical to the next stage of improvement and we want to ensure that schools utilise the advisers to 
the full, recognising the benefits they can bring to schools.  Supporting, monitoring, and where necessary challenging, schools’ use 
of the PDG is fundamental to the role of the advisers.  This is explicit in the grant terms and conditions each consortia signs up to.   

It is only by adopting this approach that we will be able to maximise the impact of the grant and embed best practice across the 
regions.  Sir Alasdair Macdonald’s support for the advisers is vital to ensure we continue to be pro-active and maintain momentum.  
Half termly meetings with the advisers are led by Sir Alasdair with a focus on progress including priorities; successes and best 
practice; and challenges.  This also provides the advisers with continuous professional development to ensure they are well placed 
to support schools.  

R9: The Welsh Government should encourage and place an onus on schools to take full account of the available evidence 
and expertise on what constitutes effective use of the PDG, whilst enabling school leaders to take appropriate decisions 
for their own pupils. In doing so, the Welsh Government should work with Estyn to ensure it plays a full role in monitoring 
this. 

Accept 

We expect the PDG strategic advisers to raise awareness of the evidence; tools; and best practice available.  Their role is to 
support schools where needed to make effective decisions and evaluate the impact of those decisions and interventions.  We will 
work with the advisers to ensure the new PDG guidance meets the need of schools.   

We have recently launched Sir Alasdair’s blog, which reinforces the messages of what works in a quick and accessible way.  The 
first post was issued on 31 July and has already had over 600 views. 

Last year we worked with Estyn on its supplementary guidance for inspecting poverty and social disadvantage to support the 
inspection arrangements that came into operation from September 2017.  We continue to work with the inspectorate to ensure 
schools support disadvantaged learners appropriately. 

R10: The Welsh Government should ensure that there are always effective systems and processes available to all schools 

P
ack P

age 8

https://curriculumforwales.gov.wales/2018/07/31/reducing-the-attainment-gap-learning-from-others-but-implementing-in-your-own-way-a-message-from-sir-alasdair-mcdonald/


7 
 

for tracking pupils’ progress. The Welsh Government should ensure that the regional consortia provide clear advice and 
support to schools within their region on which methods are available. 

Accept 

Tracking pupil progress was identified as a strength in good schools in the IPSOS Mori/WISERD evaluation.  We will work with the 
PDG strategic advisers to ensure the new PDG guidance builds on this strength and that schools continue to improve their support 
for disadvantaged learners.  Understanding the needs of both individual and groups of learners is key to supporting better 
outcomes. The intelligence gathered from tracking such data can be a pivotal to this and I have seen many excellent examples of 
such data being used effectively in schools across Wales. 

R11: The Welsh Government should urgently improve, through its PDG guidance and directions to consortia, how the 
PDG is used to improve eFSM pupils’ attendance and engagement with their education. 

Accept 

Our vision is to create an inclusive and engaging environment where learners feel safe and are ready to learn.  If learners are going 
to benefit fully from their education, the experiences school offers, and reach their full potential, it is vital they attend school on a 
regular basis and engage once they are there.  This is especially the case for disadvantaged learners where there is a greater 
reliance on school to provide enrichment and build aspiration. 

We are working with stakeholders to identify what support and guidance are needed to enhance skills, knowledge and 
understanding to sustain and build upon school attendance.  We are reviewing the All Wales Attendance Framework to ensure that 
arrangements continue to provide effective support to local authorities, schools, parents and learners, including disadvantaged 
learners.  

We will also reflect on this in the context of work to revise the PDG guidance, which I expect to point to case studies of best 
practice, including in relation to attendance and engagement. 

R12. The Welsh Government should urgently improve, and place greater emphasis on, how the PDG is used to improve 
the engagement of eFSM pupils in order to reduce the number of cases where they receive fixed-term exclusions. 

Accept 

Education in Wales: Our National Mission recognises the importance of learner well-being, placing it at the heart of the inclusive 
education system, and sets out our intention to strengthen collaborative working between mainstream schools and education 

P
ack P

age 9



8 
 

otherwise than at school (EOTAS) providers. EOTAS providers can provide a vital service to vulnerable learners in danger of 
becoming disengaged from education by providing bespoke and unique support to meet the untypical needs of challenging 
learners. 

We have already amended our guidance to make clear that exclusion should be a matter of last resort when dealing with pupils 
with challenging behaviour – if we are going to tackle poor behaviour we must first understand the underlying causes.  Effective 
tracking systems have an important role to play in early identification and intervention. 

The Committee will be aware that the Education, Children and Communities, and Health Departments have jointly funded, with 
Public Health Wales, an Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Support Hub. The Hub will increase the understanding of ACEs so 
that school staff can give the most appropriate support and intervention to vulnerable learners who may be at risk of becoming 
excluded from school or disengaged from education.  

R13. The Welsh Government should urgently investigate the widening of the eFSM/non FSM attainment gap in 2017 and 
learn and apply lessons from this at the earliest opportunity. This should focus on both the implications of the changes to 
performance measures in 2017 and how the PDG is used to improve eFSM pupils’ resilience in the face of such changes. 

R14. Whilst the Committee welcomes the Cabinet Secretary’s action to encourage more appropriate entries for 
qualifications at Key Stage 4, the Welsh Government should investigate any unintended consequences and adverse 
effects on pupils, including eFSM pupils, who risk being unable to take vocational qualifications even where these are 
best suited for them. The Welsh Government should report back to the Committee by the end of 2018. 

R15. Whilst the Committee understands the rationale for the Welsh Government’s revision of Key Stage 4 performance 
measures in 2017 and 2018, the Cabinet Secretary should reflect carefully on the message this conveys regarding the 
value of vocational qualifications as opposed to general qualifications, particularly given the Welsh Government’s 
commitment to a “parity of esteem”. The Welsh Government should report back to the Committee by the end of 2018 

R16. The Welsh Government should set out what action it has taken to minimise any potential adverse impact on the 
summer 2018 cohort, particularly eFSM pupils and Looked After Children, from the changes to performance measures in 
2017 and 2018. 

Accept 

It is important to note that we are in a period of much change in the education system in Wales. Where qualifications and 

P
ack P

age 10



9 
 

performance evaluation of schools are concerned, this is an extended period of transition. I am determined that we raise the 
standards for all of our learners and am continually reviewing all aspects of the system. This is why I have announced the 
introduction of the ‘interim measures’ at Key Stage 4 from 2019, which will move us to a more intelligent system of performance 
evaluation that has the learner at its heart, following on immediately from the revisions made to measures between 2016-18. 

Analysis of the 2017 GCSE results was provided in the evidence paper submitted to the Committee ahead of its evidence sessions 
earlier in the year.  This analysis also formed the basis of a discussion at my Ministerial Policy Board in May. Although it is too early 
to investigate the gap in attainment between eFSM and non-eFSM pupils in the first year’s set of data against the revised 
performance measures introduced in 2017, lessons have been learnt and applied as we work to improve the resilience of all 
learners and ensure schools are better prepared.   

Having analysed the data from the summer 2017 cohort, it was clear that there were schools that defied the trend with eFSM 
learners outperforming their non-eFSM peers.  This information was shared with the PDG strategic advisers and PDG-LAC 
coordinators to allow identification of best practice to be implemented more widely.  Working together we will undertake a similar 
exercise when the 2018 results are known to ensure we continue to raise awareness of the need for specific focus on these groups 
of learners to build their resilience and seek to mitigate any adverse impact.  

By directly comparing data for 2016 and 2017 incorrect assumptions can be made and flawed conclusions drawn. A change in 
definition to a performance measure can suggest a change in outcomes whereas, in reality, the outcomes for an individual may not 
have changed, but what has changed is how the data is framed. The changes to composition of performances measures in 2017 
were introduced to encourage different behaviours at a school level, and also to pitch attainment data in a more appropriate way 
which is in alignment with national priorities.  

Qualifications Wales’ priority during summer awarding is to align standards for each subject and over time. In short, it should be no 
easier, or no more difficult, to get a particular grade from one year to the next. I invited Qualifications Wales to my Ministerial Policy 
Board in May to discuss how they ensure fairness and maintain relative stability over time. Changes to the Key Stage 4 
performance measures between 2016 and 2018 have been implemented in response to the recommendations made in the Review 
of Qualifications for 14-19 year olds in Wales (2012), which was a widely consulted on. The recommendations aimed to improve 
outcomes for all learners.  

The ensuing changes have resulted in behaviours being adapted at a school level in both intended and unintended ways. A 
perceived widening of the gap can be seen for Science. From 2018, the Science specific requirements in the performance 
measures have focussed on GCSEs only. This move to emphasising Science GCSEs has resulted in many more learners being 
entered for a Science GCSE this year, thus providing many more young people with the opportunity to attain a qualification that 

P
ack P

age 11



10 
 

enables them to progress to A level and University and pursue Science related careers. It is the case, however, that schools are 
still able to enter pupils for other vocational qualifications if it is the best option for the individual learner, and that those vocational 
qualifications may still count towards the school’s performance measures outside of the subject specific parts.   

As we move to the new interim measures, the approach of using measures that reflect attainment at all grades will incentivise 
schools to support all groups of learners to achieve their best outcomes. 

The interim measures are less prescriptive and more open to local choice. The subject specific parts of the Capped Points Score 
will be reduced to three slots, meaning that there will be six slots with no constraints on the contribution of non-GCSEs, allowing 
more freedom for schools to deliver the curriculum most appropriate to the individual learner. Going forward, new evaluation and 
improvement arrangements will be brought in alongside the new curriculum.  Through this we are targeting the pressures in the 
existing high stakes accountability system and intend to separate accountability and school evaluation for improvement.  This will 
help schools to identify and focus on where support is genuinely needed without being led by the pressures of quantitative 
performance measures viewed out of context.   

I want to make it very clear we do value vocational qualifications.  We want what is best for each and every learner in Wales, 
whether that’s a GCSE or vocational qualification.  We expect schools to offer the most appropriate qualifications to their pupils; 
however, it is clear from the data that in too many cases pupils were not being entered for the most appropriate qualification.  The 
new arrangements I’ve outlined will ensure all pupils are entered for the qualification that best suits them.  

   

Turning specifically to the position of vocational qualifications within performance measures, they can still be counted in existing 
Key Stage 4 threshold measures but are subject to a volume limit from 2017 (only 40% of each threshold measure can be made up 
of non-GCSE qualifications). This ensures a proportional recognition of attainment of vocational qualifications, without precluding 
them entirely. Again, this approach was introduced in response to the recommendations made in the Review of Qualifications for 
14-19 year olds in Wales, which recognised the inclusion of vocational qualifications in Key Stage 4 measures at the time distorted 
choice and incentivised take-up levels not in the best interest of learners. It should be noted that the existing Capped Points Score 
has no limit on the volume of vocational qualifications that can count in the measure, outside of the current five specified subject 
specific slots, which are GCSE only.  

Clearly, this is a complicated area with far reaching consequences.  I am pleased that in Wales, we send a clear message that 
vocational qualifications are valued, with the cap on their value in terms of performance measures being twice what was introduced 
in England following the Wolf Review.  Going forward, I am satisfied the arrangements I have described will put in place 
appropriate checks and balances.  And prior to these arrangements taking effect, the introduction of the ‘interim measures’ will 
begin to tackle the pressure points within the system and address the culture around the use of, and understanding the purpose of, 

P
ack P

age 12

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/180504/DFE-00031-2011.pdf


11 
 

performance measures and how to use the data effectively. 

I will write to the Committee again in the New Year, following the publication of the verified 2018 GCSE results in December, with 
an update of evidence paper I submitted to you earlier this year. 

R17. The Welsh Government should publish any impact assessment it has carried out regarding its decision to change 
Key Stage 4 performance measures from 2018/19. If no impact assessment has been carried out, the Welsh Government 
should explain the rationale for this. 

Accept 

Over the past two years we have been engaging and holding extensive and open discussions with secondary heads across Wales, 
as well as with key organisations such as unions and regional consortia through the form of meetings, conferences and workshops.  
This process has been much wider than a single impact assessment; the ‘interim’ Key Stage 4 performance measures have been 
shaped together with the sector and are the result of intense policy discussions and evaluations over a two year period.  

A primary focus in revising our interim approach to Key Stage 4 performance reporting has been on removing the constraints 
placed on schools via the publication of a set of performance measures that have disproportionately emphasised the attainment of 
one group of learners. As explained above, the introduction of these interim measures moves us closer to the more whole scale 
changes being made with the development of new evaluation and improvement arrangements, which has been and continues to 
be carefully constructed in partnership with the profession, local government, consortia, OECD and the unions.  

R18. The Welsh Government should ensure that its new interim school performance measures at Key Stage 4 from 2019 
do not have any unintended consequences or particular implications for specific cohorts of pupils, including annual 
cohorts who are amongst the first affected, Looked After Children and eFSM pupils in light of the objective to close the 
attainment gap. 

Accept 

As I have said above, the interim measures and the associated work we are carrying out will aid schools in supporting all groups of 
learners to achieve their best outcomes and reach their own individual potential. We are removing constraints that currently exist 
within the performance evaluation system that, whilst incentivising schools in one way, in some cases result in an additional 
consequent behaviour that can disadvantage learners. Easing the pressure placed on schools in terms of attainment results in 
isolation will enable them to focus on their individual learners’ needs and remove the risk of measures driving behaviours resulting 

P
ack P

age 13



12 
 

in unintended consequences. 

The interim performance measures, which will be reported on from 2019, have been designed to remove the narrow focus on 
borderline C/D grade pupils and shift the focus to raising our aspirations for all learners. 

All schools will be expected to self-evaluate against points scores, plus the average points score for both eFSM and non-eFSM 
learners, along with the performance of boys and girls, to ensure that every child counts and that we value the progress of all pupils 
across the cohort. 

We have been working closely with the consortia, and are continuing to do so, to support schools in the implementation of the new 
interim measures. 

We will continue to facilitate schools’ analysis of their attainment data and work with data and performance leads in consortia and 
local authorities to help support schools in this endeavour as part of their self-evaluation. 

R19. The Welsh Government should ensure there is an effective, strategic approach to using the Looked After Children 
and adopted children PDG, giving due consideration to ICF Consulting’s evaluation and subsequently making any 
improvements which are identified as necessary.  

Accept  

Given the particular barriers that care experienced young people often face in terms of their education, the PDG for looked after 
and formerly looked after children is a vitally important element of the grant.  The grant being administered by the consortia helps 
ensure a strategic approach is taken to management of the grant, which is important given the transient nature of the group and 
also the acute needs of some of these learners. 

ICF Consulting’s evaluation is currently being finalised and will be published later in the autumn.  In advance of publication of the 
evaluation, work has commenced with consortia and local authorities to consider how the model can be developed to ensure the 
opportunities presented by the grant for supporting these learners are maximised.  The focus of this work is ensuring the model is 
as effective as possible and also that there is greater national consistency, which is not currently the case across the board.  I 
expect this work to conclude in advance of the next financial year, and ICF’s findings will be essential in informing it. 

R20. In conjunction with the regional consortia, the Welsh Government should ensure that the PDG for Looked After 
Children and adopted children is used specifically for these groups of pupils. In doing so, the Welsh Government should 
take account of relevant aspects of ICF Consulting’s evaluation report. 

P
ack P

age 14



13 
 

Accept 

The Welsh Government accepts that, first and foremost, the PDG-LAC should be used for those intended to be direct beneficiaries.  
That is looked after and formerly looked after children.  Individual interventions funded through the grant, which should be put in 
place to meet the identified needs of individual or groups of learners, will only be available for those direct beneficiaries. It is the 
case though, that many of the whole class/school interventions and capacity building activities that are known to benefit care 
experienced young people also benefit a wider cohort of vulnerable learners.  Activities around attachment and ACEs, which the 
Committee heard about during its evidence gathering sessions, are examples of this and have been put in place by consortia and 
positively received.  This represents an effective and pragmatic use of the grant, ensuring maximum impact and value for the 
funding and benefitting the widest possible group of learners.   

I am not persuaded that any narrowing of this approach is appropriate.  However, I recognise the risk of overstretching or diluting 
the funding and this will be considered as part of the work underway to review the current PDG-LAC model.  Any findings from the 
independent evaluation on this point will of course be considered. 

R21. The Welsh Government should urgently consider how the PDG can be used for improving Looked After Children’s 
engagement with their education, including attendance rates and exclusion rates. This should take into account the 
conclusions of ICF Consulting’s evaluation. 

Accept  

The position above outlined in response to recommendations 11 and 12 in respect of eFSM learners applies equally to looked after 
and formerly looked after children.  Any relevant findings from ICF Consulting’s evaluation will be considered in the context of the 
ongoing work outlined above. 

R22. The Welsh Government should review data on Looked After Children’s attainment throughout the lifetime of the PDG 
and the implications that changes to performance measures might have had. The Welsh Government should publish its 
assessment of this, and consider how the PDG can deliver greater impact in terms of improving Looked After Children’s 
educational outcomes. 

Accept 

I agree that we must continue to keep under review and be satisfied that the PDG is delivering the greatest possible impact in 
terms of supporting the educational outcomes of looked after and formerly looked after children.  The forthcoming evaluation is an 

P
ack P

age 15



14 
 

important milestone and we will fully consider the recommendations of that report in the context of the work I have described to 
review the PDG-LAC model. 

I have committed to update the evidence paper submitted to the Committee in March and to write to you with this in the New Year. I 
have asked my officials to consider to what extent this paper can also include looked after children.  I would at this point like to flag 
to the Committee the particular challenges looked after children data presents when undertaking any analysis, for example, sample 
size and those in care for a short period of time.   

R23. The Welsh Government should extend the PDG to include children who have been looked after for any significant 
period in their lives. The Welsh Government should fund allocations to the regional consortia accordingly and ensure that 
the consortia also target the PDG at these pupils. In doing so, the Welsh Government should decide what constitutes a 
significant period, including giving consideration to the Committee’s suggestion of any period of 13 weeks or more, as is 
used for determining eligibility to after care services for former Looked After Children. 

Accept in Principle 

Whilst I accept the rationale behind the recommendation; further cross-Government consideration is required in order to determine 

whether or not it is feasible.  I have asked my officials to work with their counterparts in the Social Services and Knowledge and 

Analytical Departments to understand the implications that would flow from implementing the Committee’s recommendation.  I 

should say that, if implementation of this approach is considered viable, it would not take effect until April 2020 as allocations have 

already been confirmed for the current and next financial years.  

R24. The Welsh Government should put in place a mechanism from academic year 2018/19 to enable parents to inform 
schools when their children are adopted children and to have that information gathered and added to the child’s school 
record. This information should then be used to target support under the PDG at pupils known to be adopted children and 
to enable individual pupil educational outcomes for adopted children to be monitored in a similar way to Looked After 
Children. 

Accept in Principle  

Whilst I fully accept the rationale behind the Committee’s recommendation, the practical implications and complexities require 
thorough consideration.  In particular, the implications of the recent General Data Protection Regulations will need to be considered 
before taking forward any data collection of this nature. However, in readiness for the new school year I have written to all 

P
ack P

age 16



15 
 

headteachers, via the Dysg newsletter, highlighting that adopted children can sometimes face barriers to learning and how it is 
important that schools know who their adopted children are so that they are able to put in place appropriate support.  In my letter, I 
made clear that in doing so it is imperative that schools also clearly recognise this will be a sensitive issue for some adoptive 
parents and any actions taken must be child centred and with the support and agreement of parents.  We will continue to keep this 
matter under review and explore how we can further breakdown any barriers. 

R25. The Welsh Government should ensure that it funds its allocations of the Looked After Children and adopted children 
PDG to each regional consortia per Looked After Child and known adopted child in each region. Where the number of 
adopted children is not precisely known, a best estimate should be used. 

Reject 

Given the links between this recommendation and recommendation 24, implementing it at this point is not viable.  That is because 
there is currently no robust education data on adopted children on which to base such a calculation. I am, however, happy to 
continue to keep this matter under review.   

R26. The Welsh Government and regional consortia should monitor pupils’ educational outcomes in the schools which 
participated in Schools Challenge Cymru and take steps to mitigate against any potential loss of momentum in those 
schools which made progress. 

Accept 

Existing mechanisms are in place to address this recommendation.  The consortia monitor the outcomes of all schools.  That will be 
on the basis of the interim performance measures from 2019 and, in due course, in line with the new evaluation and improvement 
arrangements which are currently being developed. The Welsh Government monitors consortia through the Challenge and Review 
process.  

Where a School Challenge Cymru school is causing concern or requires support, this will be provided through the consortia. 

R27. Any future school improvement programme should run for a sufficient period of time to enable it to have durable, 
long-term impact, usually for longer than three years, The Welsh Government should not, other than in exceptional 
circumstances, discontinue a programme such as Schools Challenge Cymru, before knowing the results of any 
evaluation it has commissioned. 

P
ack P

age 17



16 
 

Accept in principle 

Whilst I accept the rationale behind the Committee’s recommendation, and would as a principle subscribe to long term 
improvement programmes running in accordance with evaluations, such decisions inevitably need to be taken on a case by case 
basis.   

R28. The Welsh Government, in conjunction with the regional consortia, should engage with the key players involved in 
delivering Schools Challenge Cymru, including Professor Mel Ainscow, to discuss what lessons can be learnt from the 
programme and other school improvement initiatives and subsequently apply these more generally across all schools 
requiring improvement 

Accept 

Retaining the expertise and sharing the learning from Schools Challenge Cymru has been an important building block in our school 
improvement agenda.  The transfer of information and transition of staff, for example, have been particularly important and I am 
pleased that a number of key Schools Challenge Cymru are still working in the system. For instance, Sir Alasdair Macdonald 
(former SCC champion) continues to act as our Raising Attainment Advocate and many former SCC advisers have been retained 
within consortia, ensuring a transfer of their knowledge and experience into day-to-day school improvement working.  I agree it is 
vitally important we learn from previous programmes to ensure continuous improvement in the future and I have asked my senior 
officials to continue dialogue with key players previously involved with Schools Challenge Cymru. We are also looking forward as 
well as back – we are building capacity within the system and now engaging through broader range of stakeholders, including the 
OECD.  

R29. The Welsh Government should closely monitor and evaluate how regional consortia provide challenge and support 

to schools requiring improvement, particularly those which participated in Schools Challenge Cymru. This should include 

asking Estyn to include this in its inspections and monitoring of the regional consortia. 

Accept 

The Challenge and Review process allows the Welsh Government to review consortia support across the region, both at a regional 
level and drilling down to individual schools where necessary, for example in terms of Schools Causing Concern. 

You will be aware that a report on the review of Estyn was published in June. The review was commissioned by Her Majesty’s 
Chief Inspector to determine the implications of our reforms on the future role of the Inspectorate. 

P
ack P

age 18



17 
 

My officials are working with Estyn and the wider education system to consider the recommendations and their implications for our 
reform process. There will be a period of formal and informal consultation with stakeholders to gather views on the 
recommendations. 

R30 The Welsh Government should keep the sufficiency of funding for school budgets under review and consider how 
this impacts on schools’ regard for, and use of, targeted funding such as the PDG. 

Accept 

Whilst I accept the rationale behind the Committee’s recommendation, it is important to note that the Welsh Government does not 
fund schools in Wales directly. Schools funding is the responsibility for Local Authorities, as is set out in law. The majority of funding 
which we provide to Local Government to support Authorities in discharging their duties, is un-hypothecated and delivered through 
the Revenue Support Grant. It is for Local Authorities, from all the sources of funding available to them, to set their budgets, 
including for schools and for school support services.  

I share some of the Committee’s concerns on this matter and I am equally alive to the concerns of Local Authorities on the overall 
budget position and the challenges created by the UK Government’s prolonged commitment to austerity.  

We will continue to keep under review the sufficiency of our hypothecated education grants, where funding is directed to schools, 
and will work with Local Government to influence local decisions on the funding for schools. I fully welcome the Committee’s 
planned inquiry into the sufficiency of schools funding.  

R31: The Welsh Government should provide, on both an individual and aggregate basis, a list of budget expenditure lines 
(BELs) within the Education MEG which predominantly finance the raising of school standards, for 2016-17, 2017-18 and 
2018-19, as well as commit to doing so for the remainder of this Assembly term. 

Accept 

As part of budget scrutiny we already provide the CYPE Committee with budget tables at BEL level and from 2018-19 the Draft 
Budget is also published at BEL level, something which we will continue to do for the rest of the Government term.  

Our education BELs are clear to see and the additional funding we provide as part of our commitment to invest an additional £100 
million to raise standards over this term is held exclusively within its own BEL, the Raising School Standards BEL. A breakdown is 
being prepared for the Committee as part of our budget scrutiny evidence submission, this will also include information on 2019-20. 

In respect of the Local Government and Public Services MEG, funding provided to Local Government through the Settlement 

P
ack P

age 19



18 
 

Revenue Support Grant is unhypothecated. We publish annually our Standard Spending Assessments and Indicator Based 
Assessments (IBAs) to show how the Revenue Support Grant is calculated but we also make very clear that these assessments 
are not spending targets. The Settlement is unhypothecated and the IBAs are our assessment of the relative need to spend across 
all authorities and across all services and include an assumption on future Council Tax income. It would be incorrect to show any 
hypothecation within the Settlement support. Separately we do publish information on Local Authority Budgeted Expenditure on 
Schools and outturn data and we will continue to do this.  

 

P
ack P

age 20



CYPE(5)-28-18 – Paper to note 2  
 

 

 

 

Dear Lynne 

 

Petition P-05-821 Reintroduce educational support funding for MEAS and the 

TES to local authorities 

 

The Petitions Committee considered the above petition, which was submitted by 

UNISON Neath Port Talbot, most recently at our meeting on 25 September. 

 

At the meeting, Members agreed that I should write to you to share details of this 

petition ahead of your upcoming scrutiny of the Welsh Government budget for 

2019/20. 

 

Further information about the petition and the Petitions Committee’s 

consideration of it to date, is available on the Assembly’s website at: 

 

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=22257&O

pt=0 

 

The Committee also agreed to share with the petitioners a copy of your report  

into the Education Improvement Grant: Gypsy, Roma and Traveller, and Minority 

Ethnic Children.   

 

Please contact the clerking team at SeneddPetitions@assembly.wales if you 

would like any further information. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

  

David J Rowlands AC/AM 

Cadeirydd/Chair 

Lynne Neagle AM 

Chair, Children, Young People and Education Committee 

National Assembly for Wales 

Tŷ  Hywel  

Cardiff Bay 

CF99 1NA 

 

                                                                                                   10 October 2018 

Pack Page 21

Agenda Item 3.2

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=22257&Opt=0
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=22257&Opt=0
mailto:SeneddPetitions@assembly.wales


Lynne Neagle AM 

Owen Smith MP 

• 
HOUSE OF COMMONS 

LONDON SWlA OAA 

Chair, Children, Young People and Education Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff CF99 1 NA 

28 September 2018 

Dear Lynne, 

Our Ref: CB/OS6362 

Y Pant School, Cowbridge Road, Talbot Green, Pontyclun, CF72 8YQ 

I have recently been contacted by the head at Y Pant School here in Pontypridd 
regarding a number of errors made by the WJEC and the impact this has had upon 
students and their families. 

Given the remit of your committee, I thought you might be interested in the problems 
encountered by Y Pant; which is unlikely to be confined to just one particular school 
or one local authority area. 

Copies of my correspondence with the WJEC and the school are enclosed for your 
information and, if the committee's forward work schedule allows, perhaps you might 
consider holding a brief evidence session on the topic? 

Thank you for giving this matter your attention and I look forward to hearing from you 
shortly. 

Yours sincerely, 

Owen Smith MP 

Member of Parliament for Pontypridd 

Enc. 

Cc Mrs. Cheetham - ), cfMl:lt�f�m�it, Pontypridd, CF37 2ST 
owen.smith.mp@parliament.uk 

www.owensmithmp.co.uk 
Twitter @OwenSmith_MP 

Tel: 01443 401122 

CYPE(5)-28-18 – Paper to note 3

Pack Page 22

Agenda Item 3.3



Ms Melhuish, 
WJEC, 
245, Western Avenue, 
Cardif

f

. 
CFS 2YX 

Dear Ms Melhuish, 

Cowbridge Road, Talbot Green, 
Pontyclun, CF72 8YQ 

Ffon/Tel: 01443 562250 
Gwefan/Website: www.ypant.co.uk 

Ebost/E-mail:enquiries.ypantcomp@rctednet.net 

24th September 2018 

Further concerns surrounding the Unit 2 AS English - Summer Series 

Thank you for your response dated 20th September. 

Unfortunately I feel the need to place another complaint about the Quality Assurance 
process for the above qualification. 

We entered 21 candidates in the summer series for AS Literature. WJEC identified 2 
clerical errors which you contacted us about earlier this month. 

In receiving this communication I was under the impression that all checks for our 21 
scripts were, whilst three weeks late after the results date, completed. It would appear 
however that this was not the case. 

On the 20th September, as a result of a different pupil requesting a re-mark a clerical 
check was completed where a 10 mark error was identified changing the grade from a B 
to an A. 

I have to point out that this candidate has been part of the Seren 
Network and this summer attended the School. She wanted to read 

 and has been distraught at her 'B' grade which was totally unexpected. 
As a result of her initial result her application to -has been placed on hold. She 
simply did not feel she would secure a place with a 'B' at AS level in her key subject area. 

I respectfully ask for reassurance of two things: 

Pennaeth I Headteacher: 

Mrs Bev Cheetham 

BYW TRWY DDYSGU I LIVING THROUGH LEARNING 

Pack Page 23



"YPANT Page 2 of 2 

• Confirmation that the examiner's marking is within tolerance and correct. 

Given that the marks have been entered incorrectly on three papers one has to 

wonder whether the marking itself is up to standard. Our English department have 

expressed a number of surprises at the results. Our English department has an 

excellent record of accurately tracking pupil outcomes. Many of them are examiners 

themselves. 

• That all clerical checks for all our candidates have now been completed. 

Why did it take a remark application to pick up yet another clerical error? When 

would this clerical error, which is pivotal to this young person's future, have been 

detected? Surely a batch of same centre scripts are checked together? 

The service we have been provided with this summer is simply not good enough. I know 
we are not alone in our concerns and am aware of other cases within the LA where the 
board has failed students by losing papers or simply not completing QA checks. 

At Y Pant three young lives are in turmoil by the lack of diligence and due care in your 
QA processes. As the only exam board in Wales it is imperative that the pupils, parents 
and educators of Wales have faith in the system. Recurring problems such as these, 
currently prevents us from having this. 

Yours sincerely, 

:�1 ULQ� 
"Y, ---::::: 

Mrs. B. Cheetham 
Headteacher 

BYW TRWY DDYSGU I LIVING THROUGH LEARNING 

Pack Page 24



Kirsty Williams AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 
Cabinet Secretary for Education 

Eich cyf/Your ref CB/OS6362 
Ein cyf/Our ref KW/02062/18 

Owen Smith MP 
Member of Parliament for Pontypridd 
House of Commons 
Westminster 
London 
SW1A OAA 

Owen.Smith.MP@parliament.uk 

Dear Owen 

Llywodraeth Cymru 
Welsh Government 

26 September 2018 

Thank you for your letter of 06 September on behalf of your constituent regarding the 
incorrect GCE AS English literature results issued by the WJEC. 

As the Cabinet Secretary for Education, and as a parent myself, I understand the concerns 
and frustration felt by Mrs Cheetham, the learners and parents involved. However, as you 
are aware, the Welsh Ministers have no powers to intervene in this matter. The Welsh 
Ministers' functions relating to the regulation of qualifications and the qualifications system 
in Wales were repealed in 2015 with the establishment of Qualifications Wales as the 
independent regulator for Wales. 

There are established arrangements in place through the WJEC and Qualifications Wales 
and I note that Mrs Cheetham has followed these procedures and has lodged a formal 
complaint with the WJEC. 

If after following the WJEC complaint's procedure, your constituent still has concerns there 
is also the option of bringing the matter to the attention of Qualifications Wales as the 
regulator. Qualifications Wales can be contacted by e-mail on; 
enquiries@qualificationswales.org or by telephone on 0333 077 2701. 

Further information on the process for making a complaint to Qualifications Wales can be 
found at: 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1 NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf I First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Kirsty. Williams@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence. Kirsty. Williams@gov. wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. 

Pack Page 25



http://qualificationswales.org/english/our-work/regulating-awarding-bodies/complaints-about
awarding-bodies/ 

Yours sincerely 

Kirsty Williams AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 
Cabinet Secretary for Education 

Pack Page 26



245 Rhodfa'r Gorllewin, Caerdydd, CFS 2YX 
Ii 

cbac 029 2026 5000 gwybodaeth@cbac.co.uk www.cbac.co.uk 

WJeC 

Mr Owen Smith MP 

10 Market Street 

Pontypridd 

CF37 2ST 

Dear Mr Smith MP 

245 Western Avenue, Cardiff, CFS 2YX 

029 2026 5000 1nfo@wjec.co.uk www.wjec.co.uk 

21 September 2018 

Thank you for your letter dated 6 September which included a letter from the Headteacher of Y Pant 

School. I attach a copy of our response to Mrs Cheetham which addresses the issues raised in the 

letter. 

I deeply regret that WJEC did not provide the candidates and the school with a better service this 

summer, and that our error caused distress for the candidates and the school. Our aim is to ensure 

that we always issue correct results to all candidates. Our quality assurance measures did not 

identify the transposition error for the two candidates at Y Pant School which led to the candidates 

receiving the incorrect marks and grades. 

It was an extremely difficult decision to change the mark and grade of the candidate whose grade 

was amended from an A to a C. In all circumstances we aim to ensure that all candidates have the 

grade they deserve based on the evidence we have. We always consider the adverse effects a 

decision may have on a candidate. In this instance, we believe that it is important that the candidate 

has her correct mark and grade as the result may be used in making important life-decisions. 

We are currently reviewing our quality assurance measures in respect of this error, to ensure that 

such incidents do not occur again. 

Yours sincerely 

Roderic Gillespie 

Chief Executive 

cc Kirsty Williams, AM - Cabinet Secretary for Education 

Mike Evans, Chair, WJEC 

Mrs Bev Cheethan 

Mae WJEC CBAC Cyf. yn gwmni cyfyngedig drwy warant, wedi'i gofrestru yng Nghymru a Uoegr {rhif 3150875) ac yn elusen gofrestredig (rhif 1073332). 

WJEC CBAC Ltd. is a company limited by guarantee, registered in England and Wales (no. 3150875) and is a registered charity (no. 1073332). 

Pack Page 27



Ii 
WJeC 
cDac 

Mrs B Cheetham 

Headteacher 

Y Pant High School 

Cowbridge Road 

Talbot Green 

Pontyclun 

CF72 8YQ 

Dear Mrs Cheetham, 

Qualifications & Assessment 

Cymwysterau ac Asesu 

'NJEC. 2'15 W<!Stcrn A11enut>. C.1rd1'' CrS 2YX 

079 2016 5000 exam� a w1ec co uk ,•,www1f>C co uk 

CBAC. 245 Rhcdta'r Go-1 ew,n. Caercydd crs 2YX 

029 2026 5000 arholtadau" CbilC CO.Uk WWW coac.cc uk 

14th September 2018 

I would like to reiterate our sincere apologies for the error in reporting incorrect grades for two of 

your candidates studying GCE English Literature this summer. I fully understand the stress that this 

will have caused your students, and we are disappointed that we have not been able to provide a 

better service to your centre this summer. 

I would like to address each of the issues you have raised in turn: 

1. Quality assurance measures for issuing results 

WJEC has quality assurance procedures in place to check each and every script once it has 

been received from the examiner. Where there are discrepancies between the marks input 

onto the electronic mark input system by the examiner and what is written on the script, 

these are corrected prior to the issuing of results. Each year, there is a small number of 

scripts that are not returned to WJEC on time either owing to examiner issues or delays with 

the post. Each examiner is provided with a Parcel Force 24 hour label to return their scripts 

to WJEC after the completion of marking. This is considered a secure and trackable system. 

Despite numerous communications between us and the examiner the scripts were 

unfortunately returned late to WJEC. 

The examiner should have returned two parcels to WJEC on 6th August but in fact only 

returned one. The second parcel was not collected by Parcel Force until Thursday 16th 

August at 15:56, which was GCE results day. This parcel, which contained scripts for your 

centre, was delivered to WJEC on Monday 20th August at 10:15. 

With GCSE results day on 23rd August, our clerical checkers did not have capacity to check 

these late GCE scripts. Following the bank holiday we contacted your centre on 3rd 

September when the error became known to us through our script checking process. 

Pack Page 28



WJeC 
cbac 

Qualifications & Assessment 

Cymwysterau ac Asesu 

WJ[C, 2�5 Wester" Avenue-. Caro," crs 2YX 

029 7076 5000 ex.-=ims a w,ec co uk wwww1ec co uk 

CBAC. 245 Rr-oofa r Go•J1ew,n Cacroyoo c,s 2YX 
029 7026 SOCO .:irholiadau a cb.Jc co.u.c www ccac cc vk 

It is a difficult decision to take whether to withhold candidates' results when the scripts have 

not been returned in sufficient time for these important quality checks to take place. In the 

vast majority of cases of this nature, grades remain the same. However, we fully 

acknowledge that even one error is not acceptable. The examiner is fully aware of the 

transposition error, the delay in returning the scripts to us and the severe consequences of 

these actions. 

2. & 3. Pupil well-being and communications 

At WJEC every candidate matters. Our aim is to get the right grade, first time, on time, every 

time. We apologise if you felt that we were insensitive in conveying the message regarding 

the transposition error and the consequences for the two candidates at your centre. That 

certainly is not what we intended. While the decisions taken in this case have meant that 

two candidates' grades have been changed following the publication of results, we do 

believe that it is important that all candidates are issued with the correct mark and grade 

that they achieved as they may be making important life-decisions based on the result. The 

adverse effects of errors are always carefully considered. 

When WJEC needs to contact a centre regarding an issue, the official notification procedure 

is via the examinations officer (EO) as the EO is the first point of contact. It was never our 

intention for this issue to go unnoticed within your centre. With regards to why we contact 

the centre rather than the candidate, our standard procedure is to deal directly with centres. 

We are able to provide letters for candidates when requested to do so by the centre. 

WJEC has a managing adverse effects policy which deals with such incidents. However, 

incidents such as these are rare and are considered by the Special Case Review Group. As a 

result of your feedback we will review within this policy how we communicate incidents 

such as these to centres, heads of centres and to candidates. 

4. Post results services 

The Post Results Service is an important aspect of the quality assurance procedures for all 

qualifications. Marking errors discovered as part of the post results services are publicly 

reported and monitored by the regulators after each examination series. When an adverse 

effect occurs which is not related to the quality of marking, we are duty bound to notify the 

relevant regulator with full details of the incident and consideration of the actions to correct 

the error. I can confirm that we did notify Qualifications Wales of this incident on 3rd 

September. 

Pack Page 29



WJeC 
cDac 

Qualifications & Assessment 

Cymwysterau ac Asesu 

WJ[C. 2.:5 We<.:N" A.venue>. C.1'C1" CrS 2YX 
07•'1 7076 !:,'"l(:Q e;,:am� ,, W1<>: co uk \',WWWJ<>: C(J 11k 

CBAC. 245 R"cdto r Go,1 ew n Caerdy:Jc crs 2YX 
029 2026 SOGO .:irholiad:lu a cbac co uk www cbac co ·Jk 

It is with deep regret that despite the quality assurance processes WJEC has in place to 

safeguard against a transposition error leading to issuing an incorrect result, on this occasion the 

safeguard failed. On behalf of WJEC, I would like to apologise again for the distress that this has 

caused your centre and the candidates concerned. Following this incident, we will strengthen 

our procedures and processes as part of our cycle of continuous review and improvement. If 

you would like to discuss the matter further, either in person or via letter, please do not hesitate 

to contact myself again. 

Yours sincerely, 

Sally Melhuish 

Cyfarwyddwraig Gynorthwyol (Asesu, Ansawdd a Dylunio) 

Assistant Director (Assessment Quality and Design) 

Pack Page 30



Roderic Gillespie 

Chief Executive, WJEC 

245 Western Avenue 

Cardiff 

CFS 2YX 

6 September 2018 

Dear Mr. Gillespie, 

Owen Smith MP 

• 
HOUSE OF COMMONS 

LONDON SW I A OAA 

Our Ref: CB/OS6362 

Mrs. Bev Cheetham, Y Pant, Cowbridge Road, Talbot Green, Pontyclun, CF72 

8YQ 

Please find enclosed a copy of a letter I have today received from my above-named 

constituent regarding the poor quality of service the school and its pupils have 

received from the WJEC. 

I was deeply concerned to read about the error that occurred with two AS English 

papers and the impact this has had upon the students involved. I am even more 

concerned to read of the lack of action and attention given to the problem by the 

WJEC. 

As such, I would greatly welcome your comments on the content of my constituent's 

letter and the issues raised therein. 

Thank you for giving this matter your attention and I look forward to hearing from you 

shortly. 

Yours sincerely, 

Owen Smith MP 

Member of Parliament for Pontypridd 

Enc. 

10 Market Street, Pontypridd, CF37 2ST 
owen.smith.mp@parliament.uk 

www.owensmithmp.co.uk 
Twitter @OwenSmith_MP 

�-•• l'\4 •A""\ .. ,,. • ..,.._� 

Pack Page 31



Cc Mrs. Bev Cheetham 

Kirsty Williams AM - Cabinet Secretary for Education 

Mike Evans - Chair, WJEC 

Pack Page 32



WJEC, 
245, Western Avenue, 
Cardiff. 
CF52YX 

Dear Sir / Madam, 

Cowbridge Road, Talbot Green, 
Pontyclun, CF72 8YQ 

Ffon/Tel: 01443 562250 

Gwefan/Website: www.ypant.co.uk 
Ebost/E-mail:enquiries.ypantcomp@rctednet.net 

6th September 2018 

Summer Examinations AS English 

I would like to register a formal complaint. 

On 3rd September 2018, Mr Andrew Williams of the WJEC contacted our Examinations 
Officer by phone. He advised her that there had been an error on the recordin of marks 
for two of our pupils - both with the surname 

The examination officer was advised that the marks for the candidates had been mixed up 
and therefore one grade was going to go up and the other was going to go down. As 
WJEC had found the error they had to act upon it and make the changes. Our 
examination officer asked that he put this information in an email. 

On 4/9 / 18, I rang and spoke with Mr Williams. Mr Williams explained that after scripts 
have been marked they are returned to WJEC and then the script is checked against the 
online mark. In this instance WJEC had not completed this check prior to the 
examination results being issued to candidates on the 16th August. 

When this quality assurance check was eventually made, some weeks after the release of 
the examination grades, they had discovered that the marks had been entered for the 
wrong candidates meaning one candidate-saw her grade plummet from and A to a 
C and the other, candidate- moved from a C to a B. 

We were instructed to check the system and reissue the grades. 

As you can imagine we are totally dismayed at the whole affair. The candidate herself was 
heartbroken. WJEC had no regard for her mental health or wellbeing in ANY aspect of 
dealing with this. Indeed on Tuesday upon speaking to an Assistant Director the whole 
'episode' was described as being 'unfortunate.' 

Pennaeth I Headteacher: 

Mrs Bev Cheetham 

BYW TRWY DDYSGU I LIVING THROUGH LEARNING 

Pack Page 33



' 

�YPANT Page 2 of 2 

I have several points I wish to raise: 

• Clearly the Quality Assurance measures in place at WJEC are not fit for purpose. 
How often do you issue results to students without all checks and measures having 
been carried out? 

• WJEC have no regard for pupil wellbeing when such events happen. It was only 
when I spoke with the Assistant Director on Tuesday and suggested that a letter 
be sent to the candidate that this was even thought about by your organisation. 
What policy do you have in place to deal with such an occurrence? 

• As a head of centre I have an official communication when anything unusual 
occurs within an examination series. At what point \'Vere you intending to 
officially notify me or were you hoping a phone call to the Examinations Officer 
would have resulted in this error going unnoticed within our organisation? 

• How many more mistakes have occurred which have impacted on pupils lives? 
Indeed an older sibling of the pupil involved sav,, her mark change on a remark. 
This had a direct effect on the university she now attends. 

WJEC has the monopoly as an exam board in Wales. Yet again we are disappointed with 
the service and dismayed at their neglect of procedures and management of this error. 

This is an organisation in which the nation's educators, children, and their parents, have 
to put their trust. Currently that trust is not there. 

I await your response and wish to advise that I am also forwarding a copy of this letter to 
the Cabinet Secretary for Education. 

Yours faithfully, 

Mrs. B. Cheetham 
Headteacher 

BYW TRWY DDYSGU I LIVING THROUGH LEARNING 

Pack Page 34


	Agenda
	3.1 Inquiry into Targeted Funding to Improve Education Outcomes - Welsh Government response to the Committee's report
	3.2 Letter from the Chair of the Petitions Committee - Petition P-05-821 Reintroduce educational support funding for MEAS and the TES to local authorities
	3.3 Letter from Owen Smith MP - Related to inconsistencies by WJEC in marking



